IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

.

CASE NO. 72,471

LAUREL D. SCHUTZ,

Petitioner,

vs.

RICHARD R. SCHUTZ,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF ROBIN H. GREENE, P.A. 2655 LeJeune Road Suite 1109 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 444-0213

-and-

LAW OFFICES OF FRUMKES AND GREENE, P.A. 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Suite 1607, New World Tower Miami, Florida 33132-2380 (305) 371-5600

Attorneys for Petitioner

TABLE OF CITATIONS

,* •.

Page

Coca-	<u>-Cola Co., Food Division v. State,</u>											
Depai	rtment of Citrus											
	406 So.2d 1079, 1087 (Fla. 1981)	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	22

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, LAUREL SCHUTZ, was the Wife in the trial court and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. The Petitioner shall be referred to as "the Wife."

The Respondent, **RICHARD SCHUTZ**, was the Husband in the trial court and the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal. The Respondent shall be referred to as "the Husband."

References to the Record on Appeal are indicated by the abbreviation "R." and references to the trial transcript are indicated by the abbreviation, "TR." All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Husband, DICK SCHUTZ, and the Wife, LAUREL SCHUTZ, were married in 1972. (R.1-2). They had two daughters: Dee Britt, now fifteen years old, and Brigette, now thirteen years old. (R.1-2). In 1977 the Wife petitioned for a dissolution of the marriage and the Husband filed a counter-petition. (R.8-11). The dissolution was granted on November 13, 1978 and the Husband was awarded the custody of the parties' two children. The court found, at that time, that although both parties would be able to provide appropriate custodial care for the children, the Husband had a more stable and established lifestyle and, with custody awarded to the Husband, the Wife would be able to establish a career for herself. (R.53). The court expressly ruled that the award of custody to the Husband would be re-evaluated after two years. (R.54,56).

The Husband never assumed the custody of the children, preferring, instead, to make the Wife "wait" for his decision to do so. This course of action caused the Wife and the children considerable stress and emotional anguish. (R.90-91)¹ Two months after the entry of the Final Judgment, the Wife sought modification with respect to the custody issue in view of the Husband's refusal to assume custody.

In October, 1979, nearly one year after the entry of the

¹The Wife testified that the Husband would call daily and say he was coming to get the children, who would wait with their bags packed. He never came. (TR.650).

Final Judgment, the court modified the custody award so as to grant custody of the children to the Wife. In so doing, the Court specifically found: 1) the Husband had not taken custody of the children and had told the Wife that he would take the children "when he was ready" and would not pay anything for their support in the interim; 2) the Husband was consistently late in picking the children up for visitation and returning them and had cursed the Wife in the presence of the children during his visitation periods; 3) the Husband was a bitter man who sought to punish the Wife by creating disturbances and difficulties with visitation and any other dealings he might have with the Wife. (R.120).

The Husband appealed this order. During the period of the appeal, the Wife was required to file numerous motions in the trial court regarding the Husband's harassment of her; his returning of the children late from visitation; his taunting of her by keeping the children in his car outside her home; and his failure to provide proper care for the children during his summer visitation. (R.155-156;158-159; 168-170;171-172). In early 1981, the District Court of Appeal, Third District, affirmed the trial court's modification order.

Just after the district court's affirmance of the modification order, the Wife and the children moved to Georgia. The Wife did not tell the Husband that she was moving but did provide him with an address and telephone number several days after the move. (TR. 557-558) The Husband ceased payment of child support upon learning of the move to Georgia. (R.414)

-3-

While the children were in Georgia, they spoke to the Husband on the telephone and wrote him letters, but there was no actual visitation between the Husband and the children. $(R.414)^2$

The Wife and children returned to Miami after only seven months in Georgia. The Wife, however, did not inform the Husband that they had returned. She did not telephone him or write to him. (R.414).

After the Wife returned to Miami, the Husband ran into her and the children or the Wife's new husband, Roland Joynes, sporadically - January, 1982, late 1983, April, 1985. The Husband also learned where the Wife was working in February, 1985. Then, two days before Memorial Day in 1985, the Husband called the Wife and asked if he could visit with the children.(TR.594). She did not give him an answer immediately and, several days later, the Husband showed up at her house. (TR.594-95) The Husband and the Wife and the children talked on the front lawn. (TR.596).

²The Husband testified that he traveled to Georgia three times to visit the children. According to the Husband the Wife was aware, on all three occasions, that he was coming, but when he arrived, neither the Wife nor the children were home. (R.563; 564-65;511). The Wife testified that she knew of only one occasion when the Husband was scheduled to visit the children in Georgia. The Husband had advised that he would pick up the children at 9:00 a.m. and, when he had not appeared by 3:00 p.m., she took the children shopping. (TR.761).

Thereafter, the Husband moved to hold the Wife in contempt for violating his visitation rights and sought to have the custody of the children awarded to him. (R.227-233). In his motion for modification seeking custody, the Husband, who had not seen the Wife or children in four years, alleged, as he had numerous times in the 1978-1981 proceedings, that the Wife "used narcotics" in the presence of the children, was involved in "illicit" drug sales and was "an unstable individual." (R.228). The Husband withdrew this motion prior to trial.

The Husband also moved to determine his liability for the child support payments he had not made since 1981. (R.230-31). The Wife moved to modify visitation and for an order awarding the past due child support arrearages. (R.185-204).

A final hearing upon the motions took place on June 10 and June 11, 1986. From the outset the proceedings involved but one issue - was the Wife "to blame" for the fact that the Husband had not visited with the children in four years?

The first person to testify was the parties' then-thirteen year old child, Dee Britt, who was questioned by her courtappointed Guardian ad Litem. Dee Britt told the court that she was nervous and frightened to be in the courtroom with her father; she had seen her father hit her step-father, Roland Joynes, when she was younger, (TR.330). Dee Britt did not want to visit with her father. (TR.368). She told the court that she was afraid of him (TR.366); that when she last saw him [during court ordered visitation in these proceedings] he told her that "your mother does drugs" and that he "could still beat up Roland"

-5-

(TR.324); and that he had broken promises in matters that were important to her. (TR.346). More importantly, she told the court that her mother had not spoken against her father to her:

> Q: [A]fter your mother and Richard or Dick got separated or divorced, did your mother ever talk to you about your father?

A: No.

Q: Never, ever?

A. No.

Q. Didn't you just tell the Judge that she told you he didn't support you?

A. In the last year she's been telling like not bad things, she's just telling us things about him like when she was married to him and stuff like that.

The Court: What kind of things?

Q: She's been telling us about the court stuff and like the things we have to do.

The Court: She has read to you pleadings in this case?

A: She tells us like about - like the meetings like this and the depositions [Dee Britt's deposition was taken by counsel for the Husband] and stuff like that.

The Court: You said she told you things that occurred when the two of them were married. What kinds of things? Was it a happy marriage, did she tell you that?

A. No.

The Court: She tell you it was an unhappy marriage?

A. Well -

The Court: What way? What were some of the things she told you that made it unhappy? A: That they didn't get along.

The Court: Okay, did she tell you why they didn't get along or what they didn't get along about?

A. No.

The Court: You said that your mommy told you certain things about your daddy, they weren't bad things, but like about this case?

A. Yes. (TR.339-341).

Dr. Michael Epstein, the court-appointed psychologist, told the court the following about the parents and the children. The Husband, nearly ten years after the parties' divorce, still resented the Wife both over her having wanted a divorce and over the amount of money she received from the court as a result of the dissolution of marriage. (TR.378). The Husband's psychological evaluation revealed him to have a "tendency to actionoriented, restless, rebellious, generally angry, with some tendency to act out his anger in a direct fashion at times," an evaluation consistent with the type of person who might abuse his wife. (TR.379). The Wife was fearful of the Husband, and the children perceived their mother as fearful of their father. (TR.384-385).

The children, whom Dr. Epstein viewed as truthful, told him that their mother had never told them "any bad things" about their father. (TR.407). The children have strong negative feelings about their father developed from their living environment with their mother and their own recollections of their

-7-

father (TR.384;391). The Wife contributed to these feelings by not encouraging visitation between the children and the Husband and by discouraging the involvement of the children and the Husband on an unconscious level and, to some extent, on a conscious level as, for example, through her relocation to Georgia. (TR.382).

Finally, Dr. Epstein opined That the term "parental alienation" as defined by Dr. Richard Gardner, a child psychiatrist, applied to this situation and these children only in "some milder form." (TR.396;404).³

The remaining portions of the final hearing primarily were devoted to the testimony of the parties. The Wife attempted to tell the court the basis for her fear of the Husband but the court restricted her, finding that the difficulties that she had encountered with the Husband were not related "to the legal situation of what happened from February 9th [when the Wife moved to Georgia] to date." (TR.654)⁴ The Wife, nevertheless managed to tell the court the following about the state of her relationship with the Husband after their divorce:

⁴The trial judge refused to allow evidence of the Husband's physical violence during the parties' marriage. (TR.451-452).

³The Husband, in the district court, alleged that Dr. Epstein testified about a concept called "parental alienation syndrome." In actuality, counsel for the Husband read to Dr. Epstein from a book authored by Dr. Richard Gardner and asked if Dr. Epstein "agreed" with Gardner's theory. Dr. Epstein agreed with portions of the theory (TR.396), disagreed with other portions (TR.399), found only some "milder form" of the symptoms described by Gardner present in this case (TR.396) and specifically told the court that his agreement with Gardner's theory was in concept only and that he was not saying that it applied to this particular case. (TR. 404).

[The Husband] was constantly late picking them [the children] up and bringing them home. He would threaten, every time he left my driveway that he wouldn't bring them back he would hold them in the driveway and taunt me to come out, outside the fence and come get them if I wanted to.

र भ भ

It was a constant battle to get this man to follow the rules the Judge had set. I couldn't get him to do that. (TR.656).

* *

[W]ith the visitation rights of the father, he would bring the support checks any time he wanted. He would come early in the morning, afternoon on days when he wasn't allowed on the property. He would walk up to my door, I lived on an acre that was all fenced. He never let me know he was coming first and he would call just - he could threaten when he came, "I'm checking up on you." And I said, "Dick, please mail the check to me." And, "I'll do It anyway I want. I'll deliver it whenever I want." (TR.657).

The Wife admitted that she had not called the Husband when she returned from Georgia. She stated:

> My life had been so uprooted. I had no time to establish at all - - I hadn't had any time. Contacting Mr. Schutz would be like exactly what's happening here right now. It would just be a continuation of what I had been through the previous four years.

> I was very tired. I really needed some time to enjoy my new marriage and my new mom and my children and new home. Mr. Schutz and I was just a constant struggle. (TR.670).

> > -9-

The Husband testified that he had not visited with his children in four years because he did not know where they were living. He testified that he had attempted to locate them by checking school board records (TR.477), but he did not contact any of the individuals who he knew would have known the Wife's location, such as the Wife's mother or the Wife's best friend with whom he was in regular contact. (TR.457-58). The trial judge found the Wife's belief that the Husband could have located the children to "smack of chutzpah" although Dr. Epstein earlier had testified:

> Q: You indicated in your report that [the Husband's] efforts to locate the children didn't appear to be very sincere?

A: It was difficult for me to obtain the true facts when I heard each party. Of course I felt and I have written in my report that it would seem over the period of time that the children lived in Georgia more particularly, however, the longer period of time they have lived in Miami, one would expect he would have been able to locate both of his daughters better than he had, that is, he had not done so for several years, quite a few years. Apparently only did so on Memorial Day of 1985, I guess.

Q: If you were to learn, Dr. Epstein, that Mr. Schutz knew where his children were in January of 1982 because he met them in a shopping mall and again in the summer of 1983 and again in December of 1984, but did nothing until May of 1985 in an effort to see the children, would your opinion change?

A: It would put into question his sincerity or at least the efforts he is willing to invest in making a good relationship with his daughters. (TR.408). At the conclusion of the two day final hearing, the trial judge entered an order finding that the children's hostility towards the Husband was the result of the Wife's actions. Based on this finding, the trial court absolved the Husband of his child support arrearages, ruling that there were no "legally existing child support arrearages." (R.417). The trial court also held that the children's entitlement to future child support would be conditioned upon future visitation (R.417) and decreed:

> It shall be the obligation of the [Wife] to do everything in her power to create in the minds of [the children] a loving, caring feeling toward the [Husband]. It shall be the [Wife's] obligation to convince the children that it is the [Wife's] desire that they see their father and love their father. Breach of this Paragraph either in words, actions, demeanor, implication or otherwise, will call for the severest penalities this Court can impose, including Contempt, imprisonment, Loss of residential custody or any combination thereof. (R.417-418).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both the trial court and the district court erred in this case because:

The trial court's order and the district court's opinion are premised upon the assessment of "guilt" on the part of the Wife for the fact that the minor children of the parties did not visit with the Husband for many years. The reality of this case, however, is that both parties were to blame for the deterioration of the relationship between the Husband and the children and, as such, "blame" should not have been placed upon only one of the parties.

The trial court's order unquestionably infringes upon the Wife's constitutional rights to freedom of speech and expression, and the finding of "parental alienation" with respect to the parties' children does not justify such infringement because the restrictions placed upon the Wife's rights do not serve either to balance the parties' respective rights or to remedy the "parental alienation".

The trial court's order is not supported by <u>Gardner v.</u> <u>Gardner</u>. 494 So.2d 500 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) because the order impermissibly exceeds the standards imposed upon parents by the <u>Gardner</u> decision by requiring the Wife to "convince" the children of a judicially decreed set of facts.

The trial court's order fails to provide for the best interest of the children because the child support arrearages, "excused" by the trial court belong to the children and not to

-12-

either party. The trial court's assessment of "guilt" on the part of the Wife with respect to the Husband's visitation is not a sufficient or appropriate basis upon which to deny to the children their right to support.

ARGUMENT

AN ORDER COMPELLING THE RESIDENTIAL PARENT UPON PAIN OF IMPRISONMENT OR LOSS OF CUSTODY TO FOSTER VISITATION BY EXPRESSING FEELINGS AND BELIEFS WHICH SHE MAY NOT HOLD AND ABSOLVING THE NON-RESIDENTIAL PARENT FROM HIS FAILURE TO PROVIDE SUPPORT CONSTITUTES AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION, VIOLATES THE RESIDENTIAL PARENT'S RIGHT TO FREEDOM OF SPEECH AND FAILS TO PROVIDE FOR THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILDREN.

This is a case about two parents, both of whom acted reprehensibly at times, yet only one of whom was villified and punished by the courts.

Of these two parents it is undisputed that:

Before and during their 1978 dissolution of marriage, 1. the Wife was beaten by the Husband, abused by the Husband, thrown from a moving car by the Husband, taunted by him, threatened by him and intimidated by him. (TR. 651). She suffered the loss of the custody of her children in the 1978 proceedings only to be forced to endure the anguish of uncertainty when the Husband continually refused to assume the custody of the children. (R.90-91; TR.650). The Wife further endured four years of litigation instituted by the Husband which included unfounded allegations of drug abuse and illegal narcotics sales (R.124-147); surveillance by private investigators retained by the Husband (165-166); physical attacks upon her friend (and later husband), Roland Joynes, by the Husband (R.118-123); and legal fees amounting to \$40,000 payment for which she was compelled to sell her home. Less than a year after the original custody order to the Husband was entered, it was modified to grant custody to the Wife. The trial court specifically found:

-14-

[T]he [Husband] has never taken custody under the Final Judgment in this cause and did not do so before the former circuit Judge hearing the Motion for Modification and Contempt Notice entered a stay order. The Court finds that the [Husband], prior to the stay order, told the [Wife] that he would take the children when he was ready and he would not pay anything for their support during the interim.

[T]he [Husband] has consistently been late in picking up the children for visitation and returning them and has cursed the [Wife] when he picked up or returned the children in front of said children.

The Court had an opportunity to observe the demeanor of [the Wife] and [the Husband] and the Court belleves from the demeanor and testimony of the parties that the [Husband] is a bitter man and is seeking to punish the [Wife] by creating disturbances and difficulties on matters involving the visitation with the minor children and in any dealings with the [Wife]. (R.118-123)

2. The Wife sought to begin her life anew. She moved to Georgia in 1981 without notifying the Husband until several days later. During their seven month stay in Georgia, the children spoke to the Husband on the telephone, and sent him cards purchased by the Wife, wrote him letters, but the Husband's attempts to visit the children were frustrated. (R.417). The Wife ultimately returned to Miami without telling the Husband. As the trial court found, "[she] never placed a call to the Husband though she always had his phone number; never dropped him a note, although she always had his post office box which was the same throughout this period." (R.417). 3. From February, 1981 - when the Wife and children moved to Georgia - through these appellate proceedings, the Husband has failed to provide the children with any support whatsoever.

4. When visitation between the Husband and the children was reestablished by the trial court, the Husband, during his first visit with the minor children since 1981, told the little girls that their mother "did drugs", that he "could still beat-up" their step-father, and he threatened them with H.R.S. custody saying, "If I can't have you, your mother won't either". (TR.407)⁵

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