0A- 12-8-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,471

LAUREL D. SCHUTZ,

Petitioner,

vs.

SID J. WHITE NOV 14 1988 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Deputy Clerk

RICHARD R. SCHUTZ,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF ANDREW M. LEINOFF, P.A. 1500 San Remo Avenue, Suite 206 Coral Gables, Florida 33146 (305) 661-1556

- and -

MARK A. GATICA Harbor Place - 2nd Floor 901 Northeast Second Avenue Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 371-6313

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trial Court properly ordered the Former Wife to take these steps necessary to undo the damage that she alone caused to the relationship between the Former Husband and the parties' minor children. The record overwhelmingly establishes that the Former Husband was a good and loving parent and that the minor children enjoyed a tender and caring relationship with their father. The Former Wife single handedly destroyed that relationship by secreting the minor children from the Former Husband for several years, over which time the children began to despise their father on the basis that "he did not visit them".

The Trial Court's Order is a proper extension of this State's domestic relations jurisprudence, which is founded upon sound moral and psychological bases, and which recognizes the importance of the relationship between the children of fractured homes and both of their parents. The Trial Court's Order merely requires the Former Wife to take those steps which are necessary to repair the relationships which she purposefully destroyed.

Furthermore, the Trial Court properly found that there were no legally existing support arrearages. Florida law has long held that a Court may refuse to enforce support arrearages under compelling circumstances. It is difficult to imagine circumstances more compelling than the circumstances of this case: The Former Wife intentionally and successfully hid the minor children from the Former Husband for a period of several years. They now despise him. Moreover, it is difficult to imagine this Former Wife coming

forward to request the support arrearages prior to the Former Husband locating her and the children. If the Former Husband never found the children, it is highly unlikely that the Former Wife would have ever requested another nickel of child support.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURTS ORDER, COMPELLING THE FORMER WIFE TO ATTEMPT TO UNDO THE DAMAGE TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES' MINOR DAUGHTERS AND THE FORMER HUSBAND, WHICH WAS CAUSED BY THE FORMER WIFE'S REPREHENSIBLE CONDUCT, IS OVERWHELMINGLY SUPPORTED BY LEGAL AUTHORITY AND PROFESSIONAL OPINION.
- A. The Former Husband's relationship with the minor children is constitutionally protected.

The record in this case overwhelmingly supports the Trial Court's Order. It is clear that under Florida law a custodial parent has an affirmative duty to encourage and nurture the parentchild relationship between the minor children and the non-custodial parent. This Order, which compels the Former Wife to take those steps which are necessary to rectify the damage that she caused, and to nurture the relationship that she destroyed, is clearly supported by the facts of this case and the great weight of authority.

The relationship between parent and child is constitutionally protected. In the case of <u>Stanley v. Illinois</u>, 405 US 645, 31 L.Ed 2d 551, 92 S.Ct 1208 (1972), the Supreme Court noted that:

"The private interest here, that of a man and the children he has sired and raised, undeniably warrants difference and absent a powerful countervailing interest, protection. It is plain that the interest of a parent in the companionship, care, custody, and management of his or her children, 'comes to this court with a momentum for respect lacking when this appeal is made to liberties which derive merely from shifting economic arrangements.' (Citations omitted)."

405 US 651.

The constitutional protection afforded Mr. Schutz with

respect to his relationship with the two minor children has been recognized by the Supreme Court as essential, among the basic civil rights of man, and a right far more precious than property rights. <u>Stanley</u>, <u>supra</u>. The integrity of the family unit has found protection in the Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, the Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and the Ninth Amendment <u>Stanley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The State of Florida recognizes the proposition that the relationship between a parent and child is constitutionally protected. This is made clear by the opinion in the case of <u>In re</u> <u>Adoption of Braithwaite</u>, 409 So.2d 78 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). That court recognized the aforementioned principal in footnote two of the opinion, citing <u>Stanley v. Illinois</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Quilloin v.</u> <u>Wallcot</u>, 434 US 246, 98 S.Ct. 594, 54 L.Ed. 2d 511 (1978); <u>Wisconsin v. Yoder</u>, 406 US 205, 92 S.Ct. 1526, 32 L.Ed. 2d 15 (1972). Recognizing this proposition, the Braithwaite court noted:

"The custodial parent of a child also owes an obligation to the non-custodial parent to encourage and nurture the parent child relationship. It is often only too easy for the custodial parent to undermine and starve the noncustodial parent's contacts and relationships with the child, particularly when the parties are separated by long distance."

Braithwaite, supra, at 1180, footnote 4.

The <u>Braithwaite</u> court noted that the record reflected the custodial parent undermining and starving the non-custodial parent's contacts and relationships with the child. Specifically, the court found a conscious effort on the part of the custodial

parent to extinguish the relationship between the child and her natural father. The facts in the record giving rise to this inference included the mother returning the father's Christmas presents, not allowing a requested summer visitation, and failing to keep the father informed of the child's current address. Clearly, the egregious conduct identified in <u>Braithwaite</u> bears a striking resemblance to the Former Wife's conduct in this case.

B. The Trial Court properly placed the onus of rectifying the damage on the party at fault.

It is fundamental that the Trial Court's findings of fact reach the Appellate Court with a presumption of correctness. When reviewing a Trial Court's Order, the Appellate Court may not second guess the judge who saw the parties and heard the evidence and exercised his discretion. The Court is permitted only to measure that exercise of discretion by the evidence contained in the record to determine whether the result is sustainable under any theory of law. <u>Reid v. Reid</u>, 396 So.2d 818 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). The Appellate Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Trial Court. <u>Pearce v. Pearce</u>, 341 So.2d 282 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977).

The Trial Court observed the demeanor of the witnesses, listened to the nuances of the testimony, and examined the exhibits and the pleadings. Clearly, The Trial Court reasonably concluded that the Former Wife's testimony regarding her justification for her actions was fabricated and entitled to no credibility whatsoever. The Former Wife lied to the Court in that aspect of

her testimony, just as she had lied about nearly everything else. It is only now, in her third appearance before a court, that she even admits to partial fault for the unfortunate state of affairs that she has caused. In any event, even if true, her testimony was legally insufficient to justify her conduct.

intentional Former Wife's the Numerous examples of misrepresentations to the Court demonstrate the basis for the Court refusing to attach any credibility to her testimony. For example, with respect to Mr. Schutz's first attempt to visit with the children in Milledgeville, Georgia, the Former Wife testified that she and the children waited at the house from 9:00 in the morning until 3:00 that afternoon. [TR-660]. This statement was without any realistic foundation. Mr. Schutz and his mother both testify to driving all night from Miami to Milledgeville, and arriving in is Milledgeville to find an empty house. The testimony corroborated by documentary evidence provided to the Former Wife's attorney immediately before their departure and by the telephone statements indicating calls to Milledgeville immediately before the departure, and after their return from the futile trip. The Former Wife's testimony was, not surprisingly, unsubstantiated.

The Former Wife represented to the Trial Court that Mr. Schutz attempted no further visitations. In fact, she represented that no further visitations would have been possible, since she and the children allegedly travelled throughout the entire summer, prior to their return to Miami in September. [TR-663]. These statements were also gross departures from reality. Again, the Former Husband

verified his attempt to arrange visitation with the children by presenting telephone receipts, numerous calls to Milledgeville, Georgia, and three letters sent by certified mail. Moreover, the second futile sojourn from Miami to Milledgeville was verified by charge receipts showing that Mr. Schutz and his sister checked into a Holiday Inn in Milledgeville and shopped in between their repeated visits to the house. The Trial Court properly discounted the Former Wife's testimony on all issues, including the justification for her reprehensible actions.

Among the various misrepresentations that the Former Wife presented to the Trial Court, she asserts an alleged basis for justification of her actions. Yet, there is no authority for the proposition that a custodial parent may destroy a warm, tender, and loving relationship between the non-custodial parent and the parties' minor children; deprive the non-custodial parent of his court ordered visitation rights for a period of four years; and, in the words of the Trial Court, "slowly drip poison into the minds of these children," so that they now hate, loathe, and despise the man whom all persons agree was formerly a good father to the children. This is a punishment harsher and more extreme than any recognized in the criminal laws of this country. It is a punishment that no court or governmental entity in this country may impose absent the most extraordinary and compelling circumstances, none of which existed in February, 1981. The law allows and provides procedures for humane, civilized responses to the alleged conduct of the Former Husband, and none of those

responses include severing the constitutionally protected parentchild relationship.

Both the Trial Court and the District Court of Appeal, Third District, found, on an ample record, that the Former Wife was the sole cause of the minor children's hatred toward their father. In fact, the Trial Court summarized its findings as follows:

"From the testimony received in Court, having observed the demeanor of the witnesses, having listened to the nuances of the testimony, having examined the exhibits and the pleadings, the Court has no doubt - not a reasonable one, not even an unreasonable one, or even a scintilla, shadow, or peradventure of a doubt - that the cause of the blind, brainwashed, bigoted, belligerence of the children toward the father grew from the soil nurtured, watered and tilled by the mother. The court is convinced that the mother breached every duty she owed as the custodial parent to the non-custodial parent of instilling love, respect, and feeling in the children for their father. Worse, she slowly dripped poison into the minds of these children, maybe even beyond the power of this court to find the antidote. But the Court will try." [R-415-416].

The Former Wife attempts to weigh the Former Husband's alleged conduct against the Former Wife's conduct, and urges this court to conclude that both parties were at fault and that, accordingly, no blame should be assessed. This approach is wrong. It was the Former Wife who solely and intentionally severed the relationship between the minor children and the Former Husband. All parties agree that the Former Husband was a good and loving father prior to February 1981. All parties now agree that the Former Husband attempted to maintain a loving relationship with his minor daughters following the Former Wife's flight to Milledgeville, Georgia.

The Former Wife moved to Georgia in an attempt to sever the relationship between the children and the Former Husband. It didn't work. He called frequently, attempted to visit, and the children sent him warm and tender correspondences. The Former Wife moved again. This time she left no forwarding address, and no telephone number. While Mr. Schutz made every possible attempt to locate the children and the Former Wife, the Former Wife allowed the children to believe that he had abandoned them. She let them believe that he did not wish to see them, and that if he wanted to, he could do so. Ultimately, when Mr. Schutz finally found the children, they justifiably hated him. After all, hadn't he abandoned then four years earlier?

It is undisputed that Richard and Laurel Schutz did not get along. If they did, they may have never been divorced in the first place. It is also true that in a great majority of dissolution cases, the parties have not and may never resolve the psychological and emotional breaches which required them to resort to the Court's intervention in the first place. However, under no circumstances should the reprehensible conduct of the Former Wife in this case be tolerated, condoned, or merely swept under the rug and declared a draw in terms of culpability. It was the Former Wife that poisoned the minds of the children, and on that basis, the Trial Court and the Third District Court of Appeal properly placed upon her the onus of attempting to undo the damage that she caused. This court should reach a similar conclusion.

C. The Trial Court's Order does not violate the Former Wife's First Amendment rights of freedom of speech.

It is abundantly clear that, in the words of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, the Former Wife's "assiduous and unfortunately largely successful efforts both to secrete physically the parties two daughters from their father and to poison their hearts and minds against him" resulted in this litigation and required the entry of the order at issue herein. It is also clear that the Trial Court's Order is amply supported by extensive legal authority.

The Former Wife's obligation to the Former Husband as the primary residential parent of the parties' minor daughters, is specified in <u>Gardner v. Gardner</u>, 494 So.2d 500, 502 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), appeal dismissed, 504 So.2d 767 (Fla. 1987). In that case the court reiterated the rule that the custodial parent may not merely remain neutral with regard to visitation, but has an <u>affirmative obligation</u> to the non-custodial parent "to encourage and nurture the parent child relationship." <u>Gardner</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 502. After citing that rule, the <u>Gardner</u> court held:

"The Wife in the instant case cannot bring herself into compliance with the final judgment merely by taking no action with regard to visitation, but rather has an obligation to encourage the parties' minor daughter to visit the husband and to take steps to make sure that the daughter will do so."

Gardner, supra.

The Former Wife urges this Court that she can comply with <u>Gardner</u> by merely dressing the children and making them available

for visitation. <u>Gardner</u> requires more. <u>Gardner</u> requires the residential parent to affirmatively encourage visitation. <u>Gardner</u> imposes a duty on the residential parent to reinforce the child's desire to visit with the non-residential parent. The Order under review clearly comports with the requirements of <u>Gardner v.</u> <u>Gardner</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The premise underlying Gardner and the Order under review is logical and so self apparent that it demands affirmance of the Trial Court's Order. This premise is that the children will spend the majority of their time with the residential parent. The residential parent will be the primary influence shaping the development and attitudes of the parties' minor children. The residential parent will, in most cases, largely determine the attitude of the children with respect to the non-residential parent, and will have a disproportionate influence upon the success of the non-residential parent's attempts to enjoy visitation with the children. It is this logic which is at the heart of Gardner v. Gardner, and which overwhelmingly requires affirmance the order under review.

Nowhere is this more true than in this case. It is undisputed that the children enjoyed a very close and loving relationship with their father prior to February, 1981. It is similarly undisputed that they now hate and despise him. During this time their attitudes were shaped by one person: Laurel Schutz. This court now has an opportunity to declare in no uncertain terms that visitation with a non-residential parent is a cherished right and

a compelling interest, and that the residential parent may not traverse this right without incurring the harshest of sanctions.

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